
Special Highways Committee

Date Friday 23 November 2018
Time 11.30 am.
Venue The Dales Conference Room, Enterprise House, Harmire 

Enterprise Park, Barnard Castle, Co Durham DL12 8XT

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence
  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Declarations of Interest, if any  

4. Public Footpaths No. 10 Barnard Castle Parish and No. 21 Marwood 
Parish and new Bridleway and Footpath Streatlam & Stainton, 
Marwood and Barnard Castle Parishes -  Joint Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services  (Pages 3 - 36)

5. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
15 November 2018

To: The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor C Kay (Chairman)
Councillor S Morrison (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, G Bleasdale, J Chaplow, J Considine, 
S Dunn, A Gardner, D Hicks, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, 
O Milburn, R Ormerod, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, 
A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269 714



This page is intentionally left blank



Highways Committee

23 November 2018

Public Footpaths No. 10 Barnard Castle 
Parish and No. 21 Marwood Parish and 
new Bridleway and Footpath Streatlam & 
Stainton, Marwood and Barnard Castle 
Parishes

Highways Act 1980
Public Path Diversion and Creation 
Orders 

Joint Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services and Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 To consider an application to divert Public Footpath No. 10 Barnard Castle 
and No. 21 Marwood and a proposal to create a new Public Bridleway and a 
new Public Footpath.  Under the Council’s Constitution the decision whether 
or not to make the Orders rests with the members of this Committee, as the 
application and proposal has attracted objections. 
 

2.0 Background

Proposed Creation

2.1 Durham County Council owns most of the former railway line running north-
east from Barnard Castle towards Bishop Auckland.  In recent years the 
Teesdale Area Action Partnership has funded physical works to open up 
sections of the former railway to walkers, cyclist and horse-riders, and 
wheelchair access where possible, with a view to formally recording the route 
as a Public Bridleway.  Works have been carried out on the section of line 
running south from Dent Gate Lane, but the final section of the railway is in 
private ownership and agreement to record a Public Bridleway over that land 
was not achieved.  Connecting the railway line through to another public 
highway requires the creation of a Bridleway over that private land and land in 
the control of Teesdale School, part of the North East Learning Trust.

2.2 The proposal would create a Public Bridleway from Dent Gate Lane along the 
former railway line to the junction with Public Footpath No. 21, then south 
along the existing tarmac path then west past Teesdale Leisure Centre and 
through to join Strathmore Road.  It would also create a new Public Footpath 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



up a flight of steps to connect the new Bridleway with Public Footpath No. 4 
Streatlam and Stainton Parish, as indicated on the proposal plan, shown at 
Document A. 

Proposed Diversion

2.3  The managers of Teesdale School have had concerns for many years about 
the location of Public Footpath No. 10 Barnard Castle/21 Marwood Parish, 
which runs from a point on the A688 north between the school buildings and 
the car park, then continues north within the school playing fields.  The 
presence of a Public Footpath, which has to be open and available for the 
public to use 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, creates security and pupil 
safeguarding issues for the School, and prevents the secure enclosure of the 
school grounds.  There is a history of unregulated public use of the school 
playing fields for dog walking and other activities, which requires the school 
grounds to be enclosed.  Public Footpath No 10 Barnard Castle/No 21 
Marwood forms part of a wider network of Public Footpaths to the north of 
Barnard Castle.  An extract from the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way is 
shown at Document B. 

2.4     As a result of discussions with Teesdale School an application was made to 
          divert Public Footpath No. 10 away from the school buildings and grounds. 

The diversion is sought in the interests of the landowner, to enable 
improvements in school security and pupil safety.  

2.5 The diversion proposal would move Footpath No. 10 and part of Footpath no. 
21 from its current location to a more easterly route, following the access road 
north to The Hub from the A688 and then west on existing tarmac paths to re-
join Footpath No. 21 adjacent to the former railway.  These proposals are 
indicated on the proposal plan, shown at Document A. 

2.6    Pre-order consultations have been carried out for this proposal.  The Local 
Members, Marwood Parish Council and Streatlam and Stainton Parish 
Council did not raise any objections, and the British Horse Society and 
Barnard Castle Walkers are Welcome made statements in support.  All 
responses are at Document C.  Objections were however received from the 
Open Spaces Society, The Ramblers Association and Barnard Castle Town 
Council, and despite further correspondence between officers and the 
objectors, and discussions between the School and the objectors, these 
objections were maintained.  This correspondence can be seen at Document 
D.

3.0 Legal Framework

3.1 The briefing note at Document E describes the statutory framework. 

Page 4



Diversion Order

3.2 The relevant statutory provision for the diversion of a public path is Section 
119 of the Highways Act 1980.  A Diversion Order can be made by the 
Council if it appears that it is expedient to do so in the interests of the 
owner/occupier of land or in the interests of the public, or both.  In this case 
the Order would be in the interests of the occupier of the land, Teesdale 
School, and their pupils. 

3.3 The Council must also be satisfied in making a Diversion Order that the ends 
of the diverted path are on the same or a connected highway and that they 
are substantially as convenient to the public as the existing path.  In this case 
the ends of the diverted footpath are on the same highway, and on balance it 
is my view that there is no significant loss of convenience for pedestrians 
resulting from an end point where the access road to The Hub leaves the 
A688, as there is a footway alongside the main road.  The other end of the 
diverted path at the north end of the school fields is no less convenient.  
Although the diverted route would be longer, particularly for anyone using the 
path to access the leisure centre, and there are concerns that numbers using 
the leisure centre might be adversely affected, there are alternative routes to 
the leisure centre via the road network, and for anyone using the path to 
access the wider countryside the increase is not significant in the context of a 
path used for recreational countryside walking.  

3.4 The Council also has a duty to have due regard to the needs of agriculture, 
forestry and the desirability of conserving flora, fauna and geological and 
physiographical features.  None of these issues are relevant in this case.

3.5 Before a Diversion Order is confirmed, the Council or the Secretary of State 
must, in addition to considering the above criteria, also be satisfied that the 
path will not be substantially less convenient to the public as a result of the 
diversion, and that confirmation is expedient having regard to the effect of the 
diversion on public enjoyment of the path as a whole, and on land crossed by 
the existing path or to be crossed by the new one.  Footpath No. 10 can be 
argued to serve two functions.  It is part of a wider network of rural footpaths, 
used primarily for recreational purposes, and it is submitted that the public 
enjoyment of the path as whole would not be adversely affected, making the 
confirmation of an Order expedient.  It is also used by some people as a 
pedestrian access to the leisure centre, and is reported to be used as a route 
to work for some people at Glaxo.  It is not the only route to either location, 
and such access is not currently legally recorded, so whilst some people may 
find the new path less convenient it is submitted that for the public as a whole 
it is not substantially less convenient.  The diversion would have a positive 
effect on the land crossed by the existing path as it would enable school 
security and pupil safety to be enhanced, and the new path follows existing 
hard surfaced paths throughout.  The Teesdale Community Resources Hub 
have some concerns about the proximity of the new path to their building and 
car park, but these are matters that can be addressed with physical works on 
the ground if required.

Page 5



Creation Order

3.6 The relevant statutory provision for the creation of a public path is Section 26 
of the Highways Act 1980.  A Creation Order can be made by the Council 
where it appears that there is a need for a public path, having regard to the 
extent to which it would add to the convenience or enjoyment of a substantial 
section of the public or the convenience of local residents, and the effect any 
creation would have on the rights of the landowner.  In this case the creation 
of a Public Bridleway along the former railway line and through to the leisure 
centre would secure safe and legally protected public access for walkers, 
cyclists and horse-riders between the town and the wider countryside, with all 
the attendant benefits for health and well-being.  It would add to the 
enjoyment and convenience of a substantial section of the public, with the 
linking public footpath onto Footpath No. 4 Streatlam and Stainton creating 
opportunities for connections to Stainton and a variety of walk options.  
Durham County Council is the main landowner and has no objection to the 
Creation Order, and Teesdale School have also agreed as the bridleway will 
follow an existing surfaced path and not compromise their plan for school 
security.  There have been consultations and negotiations with the private 
landowner of the western end of the railway line over several years, and he 
has not objected at this stage, though he has the right to object to an Order if 
made and seek compensation.  The landowner for the short link footpath to 
Footpath No. 4 has given his agreement.  Although one private landowner has 
agreed, this does not prevent the use of a Section 26 Order rather than a 
Section 25 Agreement.

3.7  The confirming authority should also have regard to any material provisions of 
the Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP).  The ROWIP for County 
Durham does not make specific reference to proposals of this kind other than 
to state that the Council will ensure that it deals with them in a balanced way 
as required by the legislation described.

3.8   The Council also has to have regard to the Equality Act in terms of the 
structures provided on new routes.  Any structures that might be required on 
the new routes will be in accordance with British Standard 5709:2018.  

4.0     Comments on the objections

4.1    The objection from the Open Spaces Society can be summarised as follows; 
the diversion of Footpath No. 10 is circuitous and inconvenient for the public, 
the section of footway alongside the A688 between the old and new starting 
points is unpleasant and dangerous for pedestrians and there are alternative 
diversions that might be more acceptable. 

4.2 The objection from the Barnard Castle Ramblers is similar, with concerns 
about the A688 footway and particular mention of the inconvenience for 
people visiting the leisure centre and going to work at Glaxo. 

Page 6



4.3 The objection from Barnard Castle Town Council also focuses on the impact 
on people visiting the leisure centre and Glaxo.

4.4 It is noted that there are no objections to the creation of the Public Bridleway 
or the Public Footpath linking to Footpath No. 4 Streatlam and Stainton.  All 
the objections relate to the diversion of the Footpath at Teesdale School.

4.5 Correspondence with the objectors (at Document D) seeks to address these 
matters, but in overall response to the issues raised by the objectors, it can be 
commented that the additional distance resulting from the diversion is not felt 
to be significant in the context of a recreational walk in the countryside or 
when alternative routes to the leisure centre and Glaxo are taken into 
consideration, though the potential impact on numbers using the leisure 
centre is noted.  For those taking a recreational walk the diversion would offer 
a more pleasant route than the narrow fenced corridor past the school. The 
condition of the footway alongside the A688 has been inspected by Highways 
Officers and they have no concerns about its condition and suitability for 
pedestrian usage.  It is within the 30mph zone.  

4.6 The objectors have not questioned the School’s grounds for diverting the path 
away from the school premises and fields.

4.7 Although the objections are solely concerned with the proposed diversion, the 
creation and the diversion are being looked at together and need to be seen 
in terms of the overall effect on public access in this location.

4.8   Members of the Committee are reminded that their decisions are on the 
proposals in the application, not any alternative proposals that might be 
suggested.

5.0      Assessment of application/proposal

5.1 The Committee must firstly decide whether it appears that, in the interests of 
the landowner, the public, or both, it is expedient that Footpath No. 10 
Barnard Castle and part of Footpath No 21 Marwood is diverted.

5.2   The applicant has provided a credible case for the diversion, and it is 
considered that the diversion is expedient in the interests of the landowner.

5.3   If the Committee is satisfied that the proposed Diversion Order would be 
expedient in the interests of the landowner, then it should next form a 
judgement on the convenience of the path as a result of the diversion and the 
expediency of the proposals having regard to the effect the diversion would 
have on the public’s enjoyment of the path as a whole and on the land 
crossed by the path.

5.4   The new route of the footpath will be away from the school buildings and 
playing fields, reducing the risk of any potential safety issues for the school 
pupils, and will be easy to follow on existing surfaced paths.  The additional 

Page 7



distance are not considered to be significant in the context of a country walk, 
though it is accepted that some visitors to the leisure centre may have to walk 
further.  Given the context and location of this footpath, and the alternative 
routes available to the leisure centre, it is not felt that the diversion route is 
substantially less convenient, nor would it adversely affect the public’s 
enjoyment of the path as a whole.

5.5 The Committee must also decide if there is a need for the creation of a new 
bridleway and a linking footpath.  There is a lack of bridleways in this area, 
and whilst there is evidence that the public have been using the old railway 
line on foot, this is not currently recorded as a public right of way and 
therefore has no legal protection or maintenance.  The addition of the linking 
footpath again reflects a route that the public have been using on an unofficial 
basis, providing a link into the wider network of public footpaths.  The creation 
of a new bridleway and a linking footpath would therefore record and protect 
routes for which a public need has already been shown, and enhance the 
recreational opportunities to the north east of Barnard Castle, which I am 
satisfied would add to the convenience and enjoyment of a substantial section 
of the public.

6.0      Recommendations and reasons

6.1 Therefore, for the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the 
Committee agrees to:-

  the making of a Diversion and Definitive Map and Statement Modification 
Order under the provisions of Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 for 
Public Footpaths Nos. 10 Barnard Castle and 21 Marwood, and that the 
Order shall subsequently be either confirmed or referred to the Secretary of 
State for determination, and 

  the making of a Creation and Definitive Map Modification Order under the 
provisions of Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980 for Public Bridleways Nos 
34 Marwood, 13 Streatlam and Stainton and 18 Barnard Castle and Public 
Footpath No. 4a Streatlam and Stainton, and that the Order shall 
subsequently be either confirmed or referred to the Secretary of State for 
determination. 

Process after making a Diversion Order and Creation Order (for information)

Should Members resolve that Orders be made in accordance with the 
recommendations above, this is merely the start of the legal process.  In 
particular, once Orders are made, they must be publicised and the public will 
have an opportunity to formally object to them.  Should objections be 
received, the Orders would have to be referred to the Secretary of State who 
would usually hold a Public Inquiry before making a decision upon whether or 
not to confirm the Orders. 

Page 8



Attached Documents to report

Document A Proposal plan
Document B Definitive Map extract
Document C Consultation responses
Document D Correspondence with objectors
Document E Briefing note

Contact: Mike Ogden                             Tel: 03000 265331
                      Neil Carter                                    Tel:    03000 269722

Page 9



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance 

The applicant will contribute to the costs of the diverted path and the costs of the 
Diversion Order.  The costs of the new bridleway and linking footpath will be met 
from AAP funds.

Staffing 

Not Applicable

Risk 

Not Applicable

Equality and Diversity 

Not Applicable

Accommodation 

Not Applicable

Crime and Disorder 

Not Applicable

Human Rights 

The statutory procedures covering Orders made under s.119 and s.26 of the 
Highways Act 1980 allow any person to make their views known, and for any such 
views to be considered by an independent Inspector.

Consultation

See paragraph 2.6 of the report

Procurement 

Not applicable

Disability Discrimination Act 

Not Applicable

Legal Implications 

See paragraphs 3.1 – 3.8 of report.  The making of a Creation Order will trigger 
compensation provisions in favour of landowners.

Page 10



4

21

31

25

10

11

32

2912

15

421

4

Works

Black Beck

Dismantled Railway

Pond

A 67

Farm

FB

Playing Fields

FB

A 67

Works

© Crown Copyright and database right 2017. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Ian Thompson
Corporate Director
Regeneration and Local Services
Durham County Council
County Hall
Durham DH1 5UQ

Proposed changes to 
Rights of Way at 

Teesdale School and
Barnard Castle Railway

Footpath to be extinguished

Scale1: 5,000
Date: 07 12 2017

Existing Public Rights 
of Way

Footpath
Bridleway

Footpath to be Created

N

Bridleway to be created
Page 11

Michael.Turnbull
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT A



This page is intentionally left blank



v v v v v v v v v

^ ^ ^ ^ ^
^ ^ ^ ^ v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v

^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

v
v
v
v
v

^
^
^
^
^
^

vvvvvvvvvv ^^^^^^^^^^^vvvvvvvvvvv
^^^^^^^^^^^^v

v
v

^^
^

4

2

3

28

1

30

27

2
1

29

8

7

13

32

1
1

12

31

25

6

1
0

1
7

15

33

9

4

4

11

27

3

3
4

2

6

3

3

27

21

8

2

11

15

¯

Scale

Drawn by:

This copy has been made by the authority of Durham County Council pursuant
to section 47 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (the Act).

Unless the Act provides a relevant exception to copyright, the copy must not be
copied without the prior written permission of the copyright owner

Access & Rights of Way Team
Regeneration and Local Services
Durham County Council
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
Telephone 03000 265342

Public Rights of Way

Bridleway

v v v
^ ^ ^ Byway

Footpath

Date: 05 11 18

Comments

1:8,677

This is a working copy
of the Definitive Map

© Crown Copyright and database right 2017. 
Ordnance Survey LA 100049055. 

Page 13

Michael.Turnbull_1
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT B



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 15

Michael.Turnbull_2
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT C



1

Mike Ogden

From: Sylvia Briggs 

Sent: 05 June 2018 22:24

To: Mike Ogden

Subject: Re: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway 

line, Barnard Castle

Hi Mike 

 

On behalf of the British Horse Society (Durham) I can't see a problem with the footpath diversion.  I realise 

Schools have to look at their security and this alternative footpath is only a short distance from the current 

one. 

 

Of course the new bridleway will be great for the area and I certainly would have no objection to the 

creation.  

 

There are many horse riders in the area, especially in Stainton who would love some off road riding. 

 

Regards 
Sylvia 

 

 

From: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Sent: 05 June 2018 15:07 

To  

Subject: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle  

  

Dear Sylvia/Sue, 

  

I am considering a proposal under sections 119 and 26 of the Highways Act 1980 to change the public 

rights of way network in the vicinity of Teesdale School, and would welcome your comments prior to any 

formal decisions. 

  

There are two main reasons for the proposals:- 

1.      To create a legally defined Public Bridleway along the section of the former railway line between Crossing 

Cottages (Dent Gate Lane) and Barnard Castle, connecting to Teesdale Sports Centre and Strathmore Road, 

over land mainly in the ownership of Durham County Council (where the County Council have recently 

Page 16



2

carried out improvements) and Teesdale School (Academy), but also including some land in private 

ownership. 

2.      The wish by Teesdale School to improve pupil safety and site security by moving Public Footpath No. 10 

away from its current location adjacent to the main school buildings. 

  

Discussions between the County Council and Teesdale School have come up with a set of proposals which 

will provide a Public Bridleway as outlined in 1. above and also retain a Public Footpath connection to the 

A688, via the access road to the Hub.  A short Public Footpath connection between the new Bridleway and 

Public Footpath No. 14 Streatlam and Stainton will also be provided. 

  

The proposals are shown on the attached plan, and taken together are considered to offer a reasonable 

compromise between public access and the legitimate concerns of the School.  I would be pleased to receive 

any comments or objections you may wish to offer, within 30 days of the date of this email.  If there are no 

objections, the application may be determined by the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with 

the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, and if there are objections, it will be determined 

by the Highways Committee.  If you need more time to consider the matter please let me know. 

  

Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to 

Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally they 

may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

  

Regards 

  

Mike 

  

  

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

  

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

Home - Durham County Council 

www.durham.gov.uk 

We have recently updated our privacy information. To find out more about how we collect, use, share 

and retain your personal data, visit www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy. 

 

  

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Page 17



1

Mike Ogden

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

Hi Mike 

 

As I mentioned, Barnard Castle Walkers Are Welcome discussed the proposal to divert Barnard Castle FP 10 at our meeting on 

22 August 2018 and I was asked to relay the committee's views to you. 

 

 

In general terms, we supported the proposal. Although it involves a footpath diversion, which is never to be undertaken without 

careful consideration and sound justification, we recognised the school's concerns and thought that the overall package of changes 

was beneficial. 

 

 

 

The relevant minute of the meeting is as follows: 

"Consideration was given to an email from Mike Ogden, DCC Access & Rights of Way Officer, regarding a proposal to designate 

part of the recently-improved dismantled railway track from Barnard Castle to West Auckland as a Public Bridleway. As part of 

this proposal, Teesdale School had requested the diversion of FP 10, which went from the A688 to the Leisure Centre. The 

proposed route of the diversion would go via The Hub. This was to ensure adequate safeguarding of children using the playing 

fields, which were separated from the School by the footpath and to reduce dog-fouling on the playing fields. In discussion, 

members felt that the designation of the railway track would be a great improvement for recreational walkers and cyclists. It was 

recognised that the diversion of FP 10 was controversial locally, as it was used by people to access the Leisure Centre and the 

GSK works and that the Ramblers had lodged an objection to the proposal. Whilst public rights of way were often under threat 

and needed protection, genuine proposals for change should be considered carefully and rationally. In this case, we felt that the 

School’s concerns were legitimate and understandable and that overall the diversion via The Hub, although a little longer, was not 

a major inconvenience and in some respects would be more amenable. It was agreed, therefore, that in this instance we should not 

oppose the proposal and that Peter should convey our views to DCC."  

 

As you say in your email, there is likely to be a period of public consultation in due course when everyone will be able to 

comment individually, but we hope that our committee's views will be of some help too. We shall await the eventual outcome 

with interest! 

 

Best wishes. 

 

Peter Singer 

Secretary, BCWAW 

From: P SINGER Sent: 04 September 2018 

17:23

To: Mike Ogden

Subject: Re: Footpath Diversion

Page 18



 

 

This correspondence is from: 
 
Jo Bird 

 
 
 
 
  
 
Mike Ogden                3rd July 2018 
Durham County Council   
 
 
 
Dear Mike 
 
Teesdale School and related proposals 
 
Following my letter of 15th June we have given these proposals further consideration and now wish to 
withdraw that letter.  There are aspects of the proposal to which we must object, as stated below.   
 
The Open Spaces Society (Reg charity no. 1144840, England & Wales, limited company no 
7846516), was founded in 1865 and is Britain’s oldest conservation body.  It campaigns to protect 
common land, village greens, open spaces and public paths, and the right of the public to enjoy them.   
 
We now wish to object to the loss of Barnard Castle FP10, referred to in your consultation, point 2, as 
“moving Public Footpath 10 away from its current location”.  But there is no proposed new location for 
Footpath 10, as there is nowhere to which it could be diverted, so it would be the loss of a path, an 
extinguishment.  This is what the plan accompanying your email suggests by the inclusion in the key 
to the plan of a solid black line indicating “Footpath to be extinguished”, which is an accurate 
description of what is proposed.  However, as you know, for a public footpath to be extinguished it 
must be shown that it is not needed, and clearly this path is needed.  The proposal has made front 
page news in the Teesdale Mercury (27th June) where it is made clear that many people use this path 
not only for recreation in using it, but also to go to and from the Leisure Centre and to work at Glaxo, 
and no doubt to Glaxo social club as well.  It also provides an off-road route for people to reach The 
Hub from the town. 
 
Under the proposals, one alternative provided to reach the Leisure Centre from Prospect Place/A688 
is via the pavements of Bede Road and Harmire Road beside traffic all the way, which is a much 
longer, indirect and less attractive route.  Reaching Glaxo via those roads might not be longer, but 
would certainly be less attractive. 
 
The other alternative under the proposals would be via the pavement of the A688 with its traffic, and 
The Hub, which would involve a relatively long and very indirect detour and would not be 
compensated for by the latter part of that route being attractive. 
 
While we have sympathy with the school for the problems mentioned in the Mercury’s report, we 

Page 19

Michael.Turnbull_3
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT D



 

 

doubt that these would cease if FP10 were to be closed off.  The playing field site is not securely 
fenced and there are plenty of places where anyone intent on continuing to use the area would be 
able to gain access.  We consider that the answer to the problems is for the school to install proper, 
secure fencing on all sides so that access to the playing fields is under their control.  No doubt if the 
playing fields were sited away from the school buildings in some other location, they would be 
securely enclosed.  We believe that if the playing fields were to be securely enclosed the problems 
currently experienced would be prevented, and in that case Footpath 10 could remain on its historic 
line where it could continue to be used and enjoyed by a great many people. 
 
With regard to the proposals to add the other paths being considered in this consultation, we are 
aware that most of them have already been in use by walkers for a number of years, including the link 
from Stainton FP4 to the former railway line.  It is appropriate therefore that all of them should be 
added to the definitive map.  We appreciate the work that has been carried out to improve some of 
these routes, and also that the proposal includes provision of a public bridleway. This locality has few 
bridleways and the proposed creation should be much appreciated by the many local people who 
keep horses, and also by cyclists. No doubt the work undertaken will be appreciated by all those who 
are using these paths now.  
 
We hope that our comments and suggestions will meet with your approval. 
 
With kind regards 
 
 
Jo 

 
 
Jo Bird 
Open Spaces Society 
Local Correspondent for Teesdale & Wear Valley Districts in Co Durham  
 
 

Page 20



1

Mike Ogden

From: Mike Ogden

Sent: 17 October 2018 15:39

To: 'Jo Bird'

Subject: RE: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway 

line, Barnard Castle

Attachments: DraftPlan20171207.pdf

Hi Jo, 

 

The School feel that your suggestion would still compromise the overall security of their site, and therefore are 

sticking with the original proposal, as attached. 

 

We now have a date when this will be considered by the Highways Committee; it is Friday 23 November.  The 

meeting will be held in Barnard Castle and will probably be late morning.  You will get formal notification in due 

course and will of course have an opportunity to speak to the Committee in support of your objection. 

 

Regards 

 

Mike 

 

From: Jo Bird   

Sent: 02 October 2018 18:07 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

 

Hi Mike 

  

Many thanks. 

Clearly there is some text missing from my second long paragraph.  I can’t recall precisely what text I 

intended, (and possibly deleted by mistake) but it was probably something like: 

  

“The path beyond the trees would be outside the proposed fence”  and/or 

“  a practical solution and far preferable to the route proposed on the consultation plan as well as 

preferable to the route initially suggested by Gordon Selley”. 

  

But I don’t think whatever I missed out from that para makes it hard to understand what I meant. 

  

Regards 

  

Jo 
  

From: Mike Ogden  
Sent: Tuesday, October 2, 2018 4:32 PM 

To: Jo Bird  
Subject: RE: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

  

Hi Jo, 

  

Thanks for your email.  I have asked the School for their thoughts on your proposal. 

  

Regards 

Page 21



2

  

Mike 

  

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

  

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

  

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

  

  

  

From: Jo Bird   

Sent: 24 September 2018 11:53 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

  

Dear Mike 

  

Thank you for your email in response to my queries and following your enquiries. 

  

I am very sorry that the school is not willing to consider further the proposal to route FP 10 within their 

boundary.  Safety was not the only consideration regarding this route in preference to use of the 

pavement.  In a nutshell, walking on grass with a view over grassland and trees is far more enjoyable than 

walking on a tarmac pavement beside a noisy smelly road with only a mere glimpse of countryside ahead if 

walking out of town, and if walking into town no relevant view of countryside at all.  Walking beside this 

road is not just ‘less pleasant’ but distinctly unpleasant. 

  

If the school is not prepared to consider this proposal, then the Open Spaces Society has no option other 

than to maintain its objection.   I should point out that the proposal could also have included (instead of 

the diversion joining The Hub road close to where it joins the main road), continuing along the hedge-line 

from that point to beyond the belt of trees crossing the playing fields, and turning left beside that belt of 

trees to join Marwood FP 21.  This would be less circuitous than the present proposal, and would provide a 

path on grass the whole way.  The school representatives told me that they were not planning to retain 

use of the land beyond the belt of trees, so this would be. 

  

Do you consider there might be anything to be gained from making this request to the school? 

  

Regards 

  

Jo 
  

Page 22



3

From: Mike Ogden  
Sent: Friday, September 21, 2018 4:52 PM 

To: Jo Bird  
Subject: RE: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

  

Dear Jo, 

  

Excellent timing.  I have just had a meeting with a representative from the School to discuss the proposals, so I was 

about to email you anyway. 

  

I have now received the report from my Highways colleagues, and they are satisfied that in their professional 

opinion the footway alongside the A688 is of a suitable standard, and could accommodate additional pedestrian 

use.  It has no defects but if the Orders are confirmed it would be monitored, in addition to its standard inspections. 

  

On that basis the School are not minded to pursue the alternative route around the edge of the playing fields at the 

back of the houses, as the only purpose behind that was to avoid use of the A688 footway.  Given that we now have 

the assessment of the footway safety, there is no value in pursuing a route that doesn’t meet all the School’s 

objectives, and costs more to construct. 

  

If the Orders proceed and are eventually confirmed, FP 10 will be retained as a private access for the pupils during 

school hours, and be closed off at other times.   

  

I am therefore proposing the original proposal, as shown on the attached plan (note this shows the proposed 

footpath following the existing tarmac path near the Hub rather than a section across a current grass area) is the 

one to be considered.  Can you let me know if you wish to object to that proposal? 

  

If there are objections, a meeting of the Highways Committee will be arranged to hear all parties and decide 

whether or not the Orders should be made. 

  

I’m sorry you weren’t well enough to attend the Highways Committee at Toft Hill last week – as you may be aware 

the Committee resolved that the Order should be made and I hope that it will be published in the next few weeks. 

  

I look forward to hearing from you. 

  

Regards 

  

Mike 

  

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

  

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

  

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

  

Page 23



4

  

  

  

From: Jo Bird   

Sent: 20 September 2018 16:18 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Subject: Fw: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

  

Dear Mike 

  

Re my email of 16th Sept (below), since I’ve not yet had your response, please advise if this is because, re 

1. discussions are still on-going, and 

re 2. if the inspection has taken place. 

  

It is now some time since your last communication on proposals for FP 10. 

  

Regards 

  

Jo 
  

From: Jo Bird  
Sent: Sunday, September 16, 2018 5:32 PM 

To: mike.ogden@durham.gov.uk  
Subject: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

  

Dear Mike 

  

With reference to our previous correspondence on this proposal I would be pleased to know progress on 

various matters.   

  

1.  In particular please may I know the outcome of your discussions with the school on the idea of diverting 

part of FP 10 around the outside edge of the playing fields but within the school boundaries, which I 

described in detail to you early in August. 
  

2.  Please advise the outcome of the inspection by the Highways people of the pavement between the 

start of FP 10 and the entrance to The Hub. 
  

3.  Depending on your response to point 2. would  you have concerns about pupils no longer having access 

to the school via the present FP 10 if that were to be completely closed off, and do you know if this has 

been the intention of the school?    
  

I look forward to hearing from you. 
  

Regards 

  

Jo 

  

  
  

  
  

  

  
  

  

Page 24



 

 

 
 
 
Hello Mike,                                                                                                                 5.7.2018 
 
This email is in relation to the proposed extinguishment of Footpath number 10 at Teesdale 
School, Barnard Castle. 
 
I have canvassed the opinion within Barnard Castle Ramblers and have found that a large 
body of opinion is against this closure. 
 
This is a long established footpath which was there before the school or the GSK factory. It 
is much used by members of the public from the town going to the Leisure Centre and the 
Factory to work. It is also a popular route to Stainton Village and it also links up to two other 
footpaths. 
 
Therefore on behalf of Barnard Castle Ramblers, I will oppose this footpath 
closure/diversion. 
 
Ian Martin, 

 
Footpaths Officer for Barnard Castle Ramblers.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 25



1

Mike Ogden

From: Mike Ogden

Sent: 23 August 2018 16:54

To: '

Cc:

Subject:

Hi Ian, 

 

I only know that you, Gordon and Jo met with representatives of the School, and that a number of issues were 

discussed.  I don't know whether your views have changed since that meeting?  The only development from my 

perspective is that I have asked my Highways colleagues for their assessment of the safety of the footway alongside 

the A688, which I know has been a concern, given that if the current proposals go ahead there would be a need to 

use a section of the footway to reach the new route of FP10 (the access to The Hub).  I have asked them to assess its 

suitability and any scope for improvements. 

 

I don't think I ever responded to your objection dated 5 July 2018.  I would just wish to clarify that the proposal is 

not an extinguishment of FP 10, it is for a diversion of FP 10 to a new route using the access to The Hub.  I appreciate 

that FP 10 has been there a long time, and pre-dates much of the development in the area, but that in itself does 

not mean that it cannot be altered.  The proposed alternative will still connect to the wider footpath network, to 

Stainton and elsewhere, as well as to the new proposed bridleway along the railway line which also forms part of 

the proposal.  There seems to be some dispute about how much the existing path is used for access by workers at 

Glaxo, and in any case use to go to Glaxo or the Leisure Centre is by permission, as there is no public footpath 

connection currently through to Strathmore Road. 

 

Regards 

 

Mike 

 

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

 

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

 

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

 

  

 

-----Original Message----- 

From:   

Sent: 16 August 2018 10:01 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Cc:  

Page 26



2

Subject: FP10 Teesdale School 

 

Hello Mike, 

In relation to the latest regards FP10 I understand you have been in discussion with the school and i would like to 

know what is going on.  

Have any fresh ideas come up that we in BC ramblers should know about. 

 

I still wonder whether all this is justified. 

Regards Ian. 

Page 27



1

Mike Ogden

From: Mike Ogden

Sent: 21 September 2018 17:03

To: 'Harold Selley'

Cc: Martin Ian

Subject: RE: FP 10 Teesdale School

Attachments: DraftPlan20171207.pdf

Hi Gordon, 

 

Thanks for your email.  I have now received the report from my Highways colleagues and I have spoken again to the 

School’s representative about your suggested alternative. 

 

The report on the A688 footway concludes that there are no defects and that it is suitable for potential increased 

pedestrian usage, though that would be monitored.   On the basis of that professional opinion there would seem to 

be little justification for the alternative route you suggested, which was proposed simply as an alternative to the 

section along the A688, and didn’t fully achieve the School’s objectives. 

 

It is therefore felt that the original proposal, subject to a minor change to follow the existing tarmac path next to the 

Hub, as shown on the attached plan, should be pursued.  I would be grateful therefore if you could let me know 

whether the Ramblers are maintaining their objection. If so the matter will be considered by a meeting of the 

Highways Committee, to be held in Barnard Castle on a date to be arranged. 

 

I look forward to hearing from you. 

 

Regards 

 

Mike 

 

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

 

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

 

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

 

 

 

From: Harold Selley   

Sent: 13 September 2018 12:52 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Page 28



2

Cc: Martin Ian  

Subject: FP 10 Teesdale School 

 

Hi Mike 

Ian Martin is currently away so I am writing this on his and Ramblers behalf. 

I am not sure where we are on this matter but this is an attempt to get up to date. 

The last e-mail from you (as far as I am aware) dated 23 August indicated that you were seeking advice 

from your Highways colleagues about the footpath on the A688. I am not sure if you have been made aware 

that we made a suggestion to route FP10 around the boundary of the school, passing from it's route after a 

building on the right hand side, then following the boundary, broadly north-east, along by the houses and 

electrical sub-station and out to the school boundary with the Hub road and then north to join up with the 

planned route around the Hub. The path would run between the house boundaries and school sports field 

with the fencing currently proposed. 

 

I am aware of some of the problems of this route but it seems to me that it does allow the school to keep it's 

property intact and therefore it's pupils safe within it's confines. It also means that walkers don't have to take 

their chances along the A688. What it doesn't do is address the access to the leisure centre and Glaxo from 

that direction. I don't have an answer to that problem but then it wasn't a public way in any case. 

 

We await your reaction to this proposal and we are willing to have a site meeting to look at it on the ground 

if this would be helpful. 

 

With Kind Regards 

 

Gordon Selley 

Chair Barnard Castle Ramblers 

Page 29



1

Mike Ogden

From: Mike Ogden

Sent: 17 October 2018 15:18

To:

Cc:

Subject: RE: FP 10 Teesdale School

Hi Ian, 

 

Thanks for your email and I note that Barnard Castle Ramblers are maintaining their objection. 

 

Just to give you advance notice, we now have a date for the Highways Committee to meet and consider these 

proposals.  The meeting will be on Friday 23 November in Barnard Castle, probably late morning.  You will get formal 

notification in due course and a representative of BC Ramblers will have the opportunity to speak at the Committee 

meeting. 

 

Regards 

 

Mike 

 

-----Original Message----- 

From:   

Sent: 24 September 2018 16:59 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Cc:  

Subject: RE: FP 10 Teesdale School 

 

Hello,Mike and Gordon 

in reply to your email regards the footpath alongside the A688. I cannot agree with the assessment of of the safety 

of this narrow pavement. I have walked it recently and find the experience quite frightening. Most other users will 

find the same. So on behalf of Barnard Castle Ramblers the objection remains. 

 

Regards Ian. 

Page 30



1

Mike Ogden

From: Jane Woodward <jane.woodward@barnardcastletowncouncil.gov.uk>

Sent: 26 June 2018 13:23

To: Mike Ogden

Cc: 'Michael King'

Subject: FW: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway 

line, Barnard Castle

Attachments: DraftPlan-mod20180320.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

Dear Mike 

 

At its meeting on 18 June, under delegated powers, the town council’s planning committee 

resolved to object to the proposed changes to the public rights of way network in the vicinity of 

Teesdale School and recommended that Durham County Council hold a public meeting, in 

Barnard Castle, to consult with local residents on any proposed changes. 

 

In particular, members are concerned that extinguishing the existing footpath would impact 

negatively on local residents using the path to walk to work (Glaxo) and to access Teesdale 

Leisure Centre. 

 

Kind regards 

 
Jane Woodward 

Deputy Clerk 

Tel: 01833 690970 

Barnard Castle Town Council 

Woodleigh, Flatts Road 

Barnard Castle 

DL12 8AA  

This email and any attachments to it may be confidential and are intended solely for the use of the individual to whom it is addressed. Any views or 

opinions expressed are solely those of the author and do not necessarily represent those of Barnard Castle Town Council.  If you are not the intended 

recipient of this email, you must neither take any action based upon its contents, nor copy or show it to anyone. 

Please contact the sender if you believe you have received this email in error. 

In accordance with the law, Barnard Castle Town Council only collects a limited amount of information about you necessary for correspondence, 

information and service provision.  Barnard Castle Town Council does not use profiling, it does not sell or pass your data to third parties.  It does not use 

your data for purposes other than those specified, makes sure your data are stored securely and deletes all information deemed to be no longer 

necessary. 

You may view the council’s Privacy Notice here. 

 

From: Mike Ogden [mailto:Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk]  

Sent: 05 June 2018 15:17 

To: michael.king@barnardcastletowncouncil.gov.uk 

Subject: Proposed changes to public rights of way - Teesdale School and former railway line, Barnard Castle 

 

Dear Michael, 

 

I am considering a proposal under sections 119 and 26 of the Highways Act 1980 to change the public 

rights of way network in the vicinity of Teesdale School, and would welcome your comments prior to any 

formal decisions. 

Page 31



2

 

There are two main reasons for the proposals:- 

1. To create a legally defined Public Bridleway along the section of the former railway line between 

Crossing Cottages (Dent Gate Lane) and Barnard Castle, connecting to Teesdale Sports Centre and 

Strathmore Road, over land mainly in the ownership of Durham County Council (where the County 

Council have recently carried out improvements) and Teesdale School (Academy), but also 

including some land in private ownership. 

2. The wish by Teesdale School to improve pupil safety and site security by moving Public Footpath 

No. 10 away from its current location adjacent to the main school buildings. 

 

Discussions between the County Council and Teesdale School have come up with a set of proposals which 

will provide a Public Bridleway as outlined in 1. above and also retain a Public Footpath connection to the 

A688, via the access road to the Hub.  A short Public Footpath connection between the new Bridleway and 

Public Footpath No. 14 Streatlam and Stainton will also be provided. 

 
The proposals are shown on the attached plan, and taken together are considered to offer a reasonable 
compromise between public access and the legitimate concerns of the School.  I would be pleased to receive 
any comments or objections you may wish to offer, within 30 days of the date of this email.  If there are no 
objections, the application may be determined by the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with 
the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, and if there are objections, it will be determined 
by the Highways Committee.  If you need more time to consider the matter please let me know. 
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally they 
may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

 

Regards 

 

Mike 

 

 

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

 

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

 

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

 

 

 
Customer Notice 
 
We have recently updated our terms and conditions for all our services, including making some important updates to our privacy notices. To find 
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, visit: www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy  
 

Page 32



 1 

PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 
PATH ORDER INFORMATION 

 
Procedure for public path orders 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

Michael.Turnbull_4
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT E



 2 

 
CONURRENT PATH ORDERS ie WHEN DOING A MIX OF 

CREATION AND/OR DIVERSION AND/OR EXTINGUISHMENT 
 
Note that when considering a creation or diversion order, made in association 
with an extinguishment order the extent to which the proposed path/s would 
provide an alternative to that proposed for extinguishment may be taken in to 
consideration in determining whether or not to confirm the extinguishment 
order.  Account should be taken of the convenience of the alternative path 
compared to that which is to be extinguished and if this is significantly less 
than that enjoyed by users of the existing path.  Full consideration should be 
given to the matters set out in all the relevant sections of the Highways Act 
1980 (described below). 

 
 

CREATION OF FOOTPATHS AND BRIDLEWAYS – SECTION 26 OF THE 
HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 

 
Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980 provides a power for the Council to 
create footpaths or bridleways.   
 
The Council may make an Order where it is considered a need for the path 
but having regard to the extent to which the path would add to the 
convenience or enjoyment of a substantial section of the public, or to the 
convenience of persons resident in the area and the extent the creation would 
have on the rights of those with a legal interest in the land (eg ownership). 
 
Consideration must also be given to the interests of forestry and agriculture, 
and the effect, if any, the creation of the path will have on these activities. 
However, authorities may decide that any effects may be compensated for. 

The Highways Act provides for the payment by the order making authority of 
compensation.  In some cases authorities have been able to agree with the 
landowner a sum for compensation before an order is confirmed. However, 
this is not always possible. If a dispute arises as to compensation, it is 
determined by the Lands Tribunal after the order has been confirmed. 

 
EXTINGUISHMENT OF FOOTPATH AND BRIDLEWAYS –  

SECTION 118 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 
 
Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980 provides a power for the Council to 
extinguish footpaths and bridleways. 
 
The Council may only make a Public Path Extinguishment Order where it 
appears that: 

It is expedient that the path or way should be stopped up on the 
ground that it is not needed for public use (Section 118(1)). 
 

Page 34

http://www.iprow.co.uk/gpg/index.php/Compensation


 3 

The Council (or the Secretary of State if the Order is opposed) shall not 
confirm a Public Path Extinguishment Order unless it is satisfied that: 
 
 It is expedient so to do having regard to: 

(i) The extent (if any) to which it appears that the path or way 
would, apart from the Order, be likely to be used by the public, 
and 

 
(ii) The effect which the extinguishment of the right of way would 

have as respects land served by the path or way, account 
being taken of the provisions as to compensation (Section 
118(2)). 

 
When considering either the making or the confirmation of a Public Path 
Extinguishment Order the Council (or the Secretary of State as the case may 
be) may have regard to the extent to which any Public Path Creation Order, 
Public Path Diversion Order or Rail Crossing Diversion Order being 
considered concurrently would provide an alternative path or way (Section 
118(5)). 
 
When considering whether or not to make a Public Path Extinguishment 
Order the Council must also have due regard to the needs of agriculture and 
forestry and the desirability of conserving flora, fauna, and geological and 
physiographical features (Section 29 Highways Act 1980). 
 

 

DIVERSION OF FOOTPATH AND BRIDLEWAYS –  
SECTION 119 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 

 

Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 gives a discretionary power to the 

Council to divert a public path.  A “Diversion Order” has the effect of 
extinguishing a path or length of path and creating an alternative path 

simultaneously. 
 
The Council may make an Order where it appears to the Council that it is 
expedient to do so:- 

(i)             in the interests of the owner, lessee or occupier of the land 
crossed by the path;  and/or 

(ii)             in the interests of the public 
 
A Diversion Order shall not alter a point of termination of a path except to 
another point on the same highway or one connected with it and which is 

substantially as convenient to the public. 
 
The Council (or the Secretary of State if the Order is opposed) may not 
confirm a Diversion Order unless satisfied that above criteria are met and 

that the path or way will not be substantially less convenient to the public as 

a result of the diversion and that it is expedient to confirm the Order having 

regard to the effect which:- 
 

Page 35



 4 

(i)              the diversion would have on the public enjoyment of the path as 
a whole: 
(ii)              the diversion would have on land served by the existing path, 
and 
(iii)             the new path would have on land over which the right of way is 
to be created. 
 
A path which is diverted from land owned by one person onto land owned 
by another person may give rise to claims for compensation and this can be 
taken into account when considering points (ii) and (iii) above. 
 
The Council may require an applicant (or joint applicants) to defray or make 
a contribution to:- 
 
(i)              any compensation payable; 
(ii)              any expense to the Council in facilitating the convenient exercise 
of any new path. 
 
In making a Diversion Order the Council is required under Section 29 and 

121(3) of the Act to have due regard to the needs of agriculture, forestry 

and the desirability of conserving flora, fauna and geological and 
physiographical features.  The Council is also required, under the 

Countryside Act 1968 to have regard to the desirability of conserving the 
natural beauty and amenity of the countryside. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 36


	Agenda
	4 Public Footpaths No. 10 Barnard Castle Parish and No. 21 Marwood Parish and new Bridleway and Footpath Streatlam & Stainton, Marwood and Barnard Castle Parishes -  Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Document A  - Draft Plan
	Untitled
	Untitled

	Document B - Definitive Map extract
	Document C - consultation responses - support
	Marwood Parish Council.pdf (p.1)
	British Horse Society_redacted.pdf (p.2-4)
	Walkers are Welcome.pdf (p.5-7)

	Document D - OSS_redacted
	OSS further correspondence 2_redacted
	Document D - Ramblers_redacted
	Ramblers -Ian Martin_redacted.pdf (p.1)
	Ramblers further correspondence.pdf (p.2-3)
	Ramblers further correspondence 2.pdf (p.4-5)
	ramblers further correspondence 3.pdf (p.6)

	Document D - Town Council
	Document E - Briefing note


